Cognitive Training Across the Adult Lifespan



Sabrina Guye, Christina Röcke, Susan Mérillat, Claudia C. von Bastian, and Mike Martin

Contents

Introduction	142
Benefits of Cognitive Training Interventions	142
Evidence for Training Effects.	143
Evidence for Transfer Effects.	144
Evidence for Maintenance Effects.	145
Evidence for Effects on Brain Structure and Function.	146
Future Directions.	147
Cognitive Processes During Cognitive Training	147
Optimal Training Contexts	148
Meaningful Real-Life Outcomes.	148
References	149

Abstract Normal aging is generally associated with deterioration in a number of cognitive abilities, although large individual differences in size and progression of age-related cognitive change exist. Cognitive training interventions have become an increasingly important object of research, aiming at the stabilization and improvement of cognitive abilities in old age. However, training gains tend to be of small to moderate magnitude compared to no training both on the behavioral and the brain level, but are small or disappear when compared to active control conditions. Across the different types of training interventions, mainly near transfer effects of small to moderate size have been documented. To gain further insights into the mechanism and boundaries of cognitive plasticity, we argue that future research should focus on

S. Guye $(\boxtimes) \cdot C$. Röcke \cdot S. Mérillat University Research Priority Program (URPP) "Dynamics of Healthy Aging", University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland e-mail: sabrina.guye@uzh.ch

C. C. von Bastian Department of Psychology, University Sheffield, Sheffield, UK

M. Martin University Research Priority Program (URPP) "Dynamics of Healthy Aging", University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Department of Psychology, Division of Gerontopsychology and Gerontology and Gerontology Center, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

T. Strobach, J. Karbach (eds.), *Cognitive Training*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-39292-5_10

investigating more thoroughly the cognitive processes involved in cognitive training, on identifying training contexts that may maximize training and transfer effects, and on quantifying potential impacts on meaningful real-life outcomes.

Introduction

There is robust longitudinal evidence for age-related decline in cognitive abilities. Fluid abilities are affected earlier than crystallized abilities, but with varying onset and slope between individuals (e.g., Salthouse 2010). These negative age-related changes have sparked early interest in the possibility of preventing or counteracting this decline and thus maintaining cognitive health into later life with cognitive training interventions. In this chapter, we review the literature regarding training-induced plasticity in healthy older adults.

Many of the early training interventions focused on improving (episodic) memory ability, given that subjective changes in one's memory functioning are frequently voiced concerns from older adults (see also Wenger et al., this volume). Using a testing-the-limits paradigm, these training interventions typically instructed participants in a specific memory strategy, such as the Method of Loci, trying to uncover the strategy-independent latent performance potential and the boundary conditions for such latent reserve capacity of the aging cognitive system. The second generation of cognitive training interventions consisted of process-based approaches that focused on broader, more basic cognitive processes including working memory (see also Könen et al., this volume) or executive functions (see also Karbach and Kray, this volume). As a special form of process-based training, newer approaches target multiple cognitive domains simultaneously to achieve broader and larger transfer and greater ecological validity.

In the first part of this chapter, we review empirical evidence regarding the benefits of cognitive training interventions in healthy older adults separately for training gains, transfer, and their maintenance, as well as findings regarding brain structure and function. In the second part, we will outline the key points to consider in future research to design more effective training interventions for healthy older adults to help maintain cognitive functioning.

Benefits of Cognitive Training Interventions

Cognitive training studies differ on a multitude of design choices (e.g., type of training and its administration, cognitive domain, setting, intensity and duration, type of control group, and type of outcome measure to assess training effectiveness; see Cochrane and Green, this volume). In addition, the systematic reviews and meta-analyses available also differ substantially in their scope and inclusion criteria, and whether they distinguish between training gain and transfer effects and between different types of control groups. Thus, conclusions from these overview analyses are not straightforward to compare.

Evidence for Training Effects

Training Gains: Passive vs. Active Controls Training effects are typically operationalized as pre to posttraining performance increases on the trained tasks compared to pre to posttraining performance changes in *passive* (i.e., with no instructed activity) or *active* control groups (i.e., with an instructed activity, but clear differentiation in the involved cognitive processes; Shipstead et al. 2012). Findings across different kinds of interventions indicate cognitive plasticity in terms of training gains (e.g., Baltes and Kliegl 1992). For example, in their meta-analysis on process-based working memory and executive functioning training, Karbach and Verhaeghen (2014) reported raw training gains of 0.9 SD, which remained almost equal in size when compared to passive controls (0.8 SD; see also Kelly et al. 2014 for similar effect sizes in working memory and speed training interventions). Interestingly, however, training gains were found as reduced to 0.5 SD (Karbach and Verhaeghen 2014) or even zero (Martin et al. 2011, see also Kelly et al. 2014 for replication) after comparing to active controls. Promising training gains emerge for multidomain training interventions (Park et al. 2014, see also Bediou et al., this volume).

Age-Related Differences in Training Gains In contrast to findings from strategybased training interventions indicating a magnification of age differences in cognitive performance and limits to training-induced plasticity in the very old (e.g., Verhaeghen and Marcoen 1996), no such age differences in training gains were observed for process-based working memory and executive functioning training interventions (Karbach and Verhaeghen 2014). The implementation of complex cognitive strategies may require a higher level of cognitive functioning than is true for the elementary cognitive processes targeted in process-based training interventions (Verhaeghen 2014). While research concerning multidomain training is still in its infancy, there is initial evidence for greater video game training benefits for older-old compared to younger-old adults, but the underlying reasons are yet poorly understood (see also Bediou et al., Strobach and Schubert, this volume).

Moderators of Training Effectiveness Group-based lab settings show greater effects than home-based training interventions (Kelly et al. 2014; Lampit et al. 2014), but it remains unclear whether these differences are due to formal vs. informal instruction or to the social setting vs. being alone. The same is true for training frequency and duration, where there is conflicting evidence about whether shorter or longer duration is the most beneficial (Karbach and Verhaeghen 2014; Kelly et al. 2014).

Evidence for Transfer Effects

As discussed in the paragraphs above, training interventions improve performance on the trained task, with greater gains compared to passive than active controls, and more robust effects for process- than strategy-based training interventions. Some of the training gains reported were of equivalent size as normal age-related declines across various cognitive domains, suggesting that training interventions likely help to reverse age-related declines and thus to stabilize cognitive functioning (Ball et al. 2002). The question is, however, if these improvements transfer to untrained tasks measuring either the same ability (i.e., near transfer) or to tasks measuring different abilities sharing underlying cognitive processes (i.e., far transfer; see e.g., Noack et al. 2009; Shipstead et al. 2012; see also Schmiedek, Taatgen, Chochrane and Green, this volume).

Transfer to Other Cognitive Tasks Assessed in the Laboratory For strategy-based trainings, little to no transfer effects have been found (e.g., Martin et al. 2011). It has been argued, though, that in contrast to the acquisition of specific memory strategies, practice effects from process-based training would be more prone to induce transfer to other cognitive tasks sharing the same core processes as the ones targeted in the intervention (e.g., Shipstead et al. 2012). Indeed, some process-based cognitive training interventions have been shown to induce small to moderate near transfer effects when the intervention is adaptive and of longer duration (Kelly et al. 2014, but see Guye and von Bastian 2017; von Bastian et al. 2019). For training interventions targeting working memory and executive functioning, for example, Karbach and Verhaeghen's (2014) meta-analysis indicated a net gain in near transfer tasks compared to active controls of 0.5 SD. However, far transfer effects were very small (net far transfer effects 0.2 SD in Karbach and Verhaeghen 2014; see also Könen et al., Karbach and Kray, this volume). The few available multidomain training interventions including cognitively complex group activities (e.g., Park et al. 2014), problem-solving (Stine-Morrow et al. 2008), or video games (see Bediou et al., Strobach and Schubert, this volume) have also shown small to moderate transfer effects to some cognitive functions, including executive functioning, episodic memory or processing speed. However, in order to design effective training interventions in the future, the understanding of the underlying processes, the cognitive functions targeted, and a high degree of ecological validity are necessary (see also Binder et al. 2015).

Transfer to Everyday Life Transfer to everyday life has been examined in only few studies, and some recent reviews have even excluded studies with everyday transfer from their analysis (e.g., Lampit et al. 2014). Studies in which everyday life was examined typically focused on self-reported basic or instrumental activities of daily living (BADL/IADL). However, these measures are designed to assess rather severe impairments in everyday life competence and, thus, are not necessarily optimal indicators of everyday functioning in healthy older adults due to ceiling effects. In the ACTIVE trial, the speed of information processing in everyday life was assessed

by tasks such as looking up a telephone number, finding a respective food item on the supermarket shelf, identifying the ingredients on food labels, as well as selfreported driving ability. Not surprisingly, little to no evidence of transfer of the memory, reasoning, and processing speed training interventions to impairments in everyday functioning has been found immediately after training (Ball et al. 2002).

Evidence for Maintenance Effects

Most studies assess pre and immediate posttest performance and transfer, but do not follow-up on these effects over extended periods of time. Many studies examine maintenance only across a few months, even though it has been proposed that a three-year interval provides a more sensitive test of maintenance, differential stability, and change (Salthouse 2006).

Maintenance of Training Gains Kelly et al. (2014) report maintenance effects examined after up to 6 months, indicating maintenance of training gains following executive functioning and memory training interventions. Longer follow-up intervals have been tested in selected studies, such as the ACTIVE trial (Rebok et al. 2014; Willis et al. 2006) that assessed maintenance effects 5 years and 10 years posttraining. In the ACTIVE study, training gains observed in each training group were maintained over 5 years, with positive additive effects through intermediate booster training (Willis et al. 2006). After 10 years, training effects were maintained in the reasoning and processing speed domains, but not in the episodic memory domain (Rebok et al. 2014).

Maintenance of Transfer Effects Even though there were no immediate or shorterterm effects after 2 years in the ACTIVE trial (Ball et al. 2002), promising transfer effects to everyday functioning for particular training conditions and everyday outcomes were found after longer periods: (process-based) speed training was related to better driving performance and self-reported driving experience after up to 6-year intervals (Ball et al. 2010). In addition, there is evidence for effects of training on the slope of change trajectories in everyday functioning: Across a 5-year interval, participants in the (strategy-based) reasoning training group showed less steep declines in BADL/IADL competence and a 50% reduced risk of experiencing a car accident compared to the passive control participants (Willis et al. 2006). After an extended time period of 10 years, ACTIVE data showed transfer to everyday functioning in terms of BADL/IADL for all three training conditions, suggesting that trained individuals experienced fewer impairments in their independent functioning in everyday life. Interestingly, at the long term follow up and an average age of 82 years, 60% of the trained participants were at or above their baseline everyday competence level, which was true for only 50% of the passive control participants. Taken together, the findings suggest that transfer effects on the ability to live independently may be detectable only in the long run rather than immediately following the training intervention. Outcome measures assessing everyday performance above the impairment level or everyday cognitive activities instead of abilities have hardly been used in the literature so far, but may be more promising to detect transfer to real life.

Evidence for Effects on Brain Structure and Function

Normal aging is accompanied by brain tissue loss and neurophysiological changes (Raz and Rodrigue 2006). While the loss of grey matter manifests itself as general volume decline and cortical thinning (Fjell and Walhovd 2010), the degradation of white matter is reflected in reduced integrity and the incidence of so-called white matter hyperintensities. With respect to brain function, aging has been linked with a complex pattern of local over- and under-recruitment of neural resources.

Effects on Brain Structure A growing number of structural neuroimaging studies in healthy older adults provide evidence for beneficial effects of cognitive training on brain structure, especially for the domains of memory and working memory, where most of the work has been carried out (see Lustig et al. 2009 for a review, see also Oschwald et al. 2019). These effects (compared to a control group) comprise reduced decreases, maintenance or even increases in volume or cortical thickness of brain structures relevant for the trained function (e.g., Raz et al. 2013; Lövdén et al. 2012). The integrity of white matter, which can be qualified by different measures of water diffusion (e.g., Fractional Anisotropy, FA) on the basis of diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), can also be maintained or even increased by cognitive training interventions (e.g., Engvig et al. 2012). The reported effects reflect processes of structural neuroplasticity, which (partly) counteract the tissue degradation normally observed with aging. However, as most of the previous studies used passive control groups only, future studies including active control groups need to confirm the specificity of such effects.

Effects on Brain Function The evidence emerging from studies investigating the effects of cognitive training interventions on brain function is less conclusive. On the one hand, studies adopting strategy-based training interventions report increased brain activity during posttraining task performance (e.g., Nyberg et al. 2003). Based on the observed correlations between neurophysiological and behavioral changes, the activation increase has been attributed to an enhanced recruitment of task-specific regions that enables behavioral gains. On the other hand, process-based training studies, particularly in the domains of working memory or executive functioning, showed decreased brain activity at the post- compared to pretraining assessment, indicating improved neural efficiency during posttraining task performance (e.g., Brehmer et al. 2011). This discrepancy in the pattern of activity might be due to the different neural mechanisms initiated by the different training types. However,

there is evidence in younger adults, that the activity decrease seen at later phases of process-based training interventions is actually preceded by an increase of activity in early training phases (Hempel et al. 2004). Future studies need to confirm whether this trajectory holds for older adults and whether strategy-based training interventions would also lead to increased neural efficiency after an extended period of implementing the acquired strategies.

Using electroencephalography (EEG), recent studies in older adults have demonstrated facilitative effects of cognitive training on early electrophysiological markers of the trained cognitive function with the extent of the ERP change predicting posttraining performance (e.g., Berry et al. 2010).

Future Directions

The central goal of cognitive training is to positively impact cognitive ability, cognitive plasticity, and ultimately functional ability in everyday life. Given the inconsistent findings with regard to training and transfer effects, as well as moderators thereof, we argue that future research should focus on three aspects (see also Guye 2018): (1) Investigate change in the cognitive processes involved in cognitive training to gain insights into the mechanism and boundaries of cognitive plasticity, (2) identify training contexts that maximize training and transfer effects, and (3) quantify the impact on meaningful real-life outcomes.

Cognitive Processes During Cognitive Training

The basic assumption underlying cognitive training is that repeated practice of cognitively challenging tasks expands the cognitive capacity (i.e., cognitive plasticity). However, the limited evidence for both near and far transfer after intensive cognitive training challenges this basic assumption. We argue that a better understanding of the changes occurring in the cognitive processes involved in training is needed to identify the potential mechanisms that could drive cognitive plasticity. Oberauer and Lewandowsky (2019) have recently presented measurement models for working memory tasks that assume two dimensions contributing to working memory performance: memory for individual elements (e.g., single digits) and memory for relations (e.g., the temporary binding of a digit to its position in a list of digits). The authors found evidence that, relative to younger adults, older adults showed specific deficits in memory for relations but not in memory for individual elements. Thus, directly targeting memory for relations as a cognitive process that deteriorates in old age could be a potential way to boost training and transfer gains.

Optimal Training Contexts

Understanding the parameters of the individually optimal training context (e.g., location, social setting, psychological state and training schedule) may direct us towards better tailoring cognitive training to the individual needs and preferences. Therefore, in addition to focusing on between-person factors associated with cognitive performance (see Katz et al., this volume; Guye et al. 2017; and for review see von Bastian and Oberauer 2014), we and others (e.g., Könen and Karbach 2015) argue that future research efforts should aim towards a better understanding of the influence of within-person covariates and environmental factors on cognitive training and transfer performance. Assessing those variables in naturalistic settings has become easier than ever given the technological advancements in recent years.

There is accumulating research showing within-person associations between cognitive performance and other factors including stress (Sliwinski et al. 2006; Stawski et al. 2011), both positive and negative affect, as well as motivation (Brose et al. 2012; Brose et al. 2014), sleep (Könen et al. 2015), and social activity (Bielak et al. 2019). The assessment of such contextual factors could be integrated in cognitive training studies to provide real-time feedback to participants on which factors are positively or negatively associated with the current training performance. Based on such just-in-time information (Nahum-Shani et al. 2018), participants would then be able to dynamically adapt their training regime to match the personally most beneficial training context, potentially maximizing the overall longer-term training benefit. Thus, a comprehensive assessment of daily personal and environmental factors, which are theoretically assumed to co-vary with daily cognitive performance, may further contribute to understand how daily training performance can be boosted.

Given the technological developments in the field of mobile sensing, ambulatory assessments to collect self-reported outcomes can easily be complemented with other tracking technologies to objectively assess further contextual parameters such as physical activity (e.g., GPS and accelerometer), physiological parameters (e.g., sleep and heart rate), or social interactions (e.g., Brose and Ebner-Priemer 2015, Mehl et al. 2001; see also Cochrane and Green, Colzato and Hommel, this volume).

Meaningful Real-Life Outcomes

One of the main goals of cognitive training interventions is to enhance cognitive performance in real-life settings and functional ability in everyday life. Although research has shown that specific aspects of cognitive ability, engaged lifestyle, and functional ability are associated (Guye et al. 2019), cognitive training studies have primarily focused on lab-based cognitive transfer tasks. Ecologically valid assessments of transfer to measure functional ability or everyday cognition are scarce (but see Ball et al. 2010; Cantarella et al. 2017; Willis et al. 2006 for exceptions).

Especially in older adults, it may come as a surprising observation that agerelated decline in basic cognitive functions measured with lab-based cognitive tasks can go hand in hand with high levels of life satisfaction (e.g., Lachman et al. 2008; Scheibe and Carstensen 2010), and the ability to clearly manage tasks and activities in real-life successfully (Salthouse 2011). Thus, in order to understand whether cognitive training is beneficial for older adults beyond lab-based measures of cognition, it is crucial to embed the evaluation of cognitive training into real-life settings and measure everyday cognition (Bielak et al. 2017; Verhaeghen et al. 2012). Some studies have used self-reported measures (e.g., IADL; Lawton and Brody 1969; CFO; Broadbent et al. 1982), and performance-based measures of everyday cognition in the lab (EPT; Willis and Marsiske 1993). However, in addition to the potential ceiling effects discussed above, these efforts do not capture the complexity and richness of real-life activities under natural circumstances. Thus, to quantify the real-life impact of cognitive training interventions, the development of objective, ecologically valid and comprehensive measures of cognitive functional ability are needed (see Mazurek et al. 2015 for an exception).

Acknowledgements Part of this work was supported by a grant and financial support awarded to the first author from the Suzanne and Hans Biäsch Foundation for Applied Psychology and the Jacobs Foundation. Moreover, this work was supported by the University Research Priority Program "Dynamics of Healthy Aging" of the University of Zurich.

References

- Ball, K., Berch, D. B., Helmers, K. F., Jobe, J. B., Leveck, M. D., Marsiske, M., ... & Unverzagt, F. W. (2002). Effects of cognitive training interventions with older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 288, 2271–2281.
- Ball, K. K., Edwards, J. D., Ross, L. A., & McGwin, G. (2010). Cognitive training decreases motor vehicle collision involvement of older drivers. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 58, 2107–2113.
- Baltes, P. B., & Kliegl, R. (1992). Further testing of limits of cognitive plasticity: Negative age differences in a mnemonic skill are robust. *Developmental Psychology*, 28, 121–125.
- Berry, A. S., Zanto, T. P., Clapp, W. C., Hardy, J. L., Delahunt, P. B., Mahncke, H. W., & Gazzaley, A. (2010). The influence of perceptual training on working memory in older adults. *PLoS ONE*, 5, e11537.
- Bielak, A. A. M., Hatt, C. R., & Diehl, M. (2017). Cognitive performance in adults' daily lives: Is there a lab-life gap? *Research in Human Development*, 14, 219–233.
- Bielak, A. A., Mogle, J., & Sliwinski, M. J. (2019). What did you do today? Variability in daily activities is related to variability in daily cognitive performance. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 74, 764–771.
- Binder, J. C., Zöllig, J., Eschen, A., Mérillat, S., Röcke, C., Schoch, S., ... & Martin, M. (2015). Multi-domain training in healthy old age: Hotel Plastisse as an iPad-based serious game to systematically compare multi-domain and single-domain training. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 7, 137.
- Brehmer, Y., Rieckmann, A., Bellander, M., Westerberg, H., Fischer, H., & Bäckman, L. (2011). Neural correlates of training-related working-memory gains in old age. *NeuroImage*, 58, 1110–1120.

- Broadbent, D. E., Cooper, P. F., FitzGerald, P., & Parkes, K. R. (1982). The Cognitive Failures Questionnaire (CFQ) and its correlates. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 21, 1–16.
- Brose, A., & Ebner-Priemer, U. W. (2015). Ambulatory assessment in the research on aging: Contemporary and future applications. *Gerontology*, 61, 372–380.
- Brose, A., Schmiedek, F., Lövdén, M., & Lindenberger, U. (2012). Daily variability in working memory is coupled with negative affect: The role of attention and motivation. *Emotion*, 12, 605–617.
- Brose, A., Lövdén, M., & Schmiedek, F. (2014). Daily fluctuations in positive affect positively covary with working memory performance. *Emotion*, 14, 1–6.
- Cantarella, A., Borella, E., Carretti, B., Kliegel, M., & de Beni, R. (2017). Benefits in tasks related to everyday life competences after a working memory training in older adults. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 32, 86–93.
- Engvig, A., Fjell, A. M., Westlye, L. T., Moberget, T., Sundseth, Ø., Larsen, V. A., & Walhovd, K. B. (2012). Memory training impacts short-term changes in aging white matter: A longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 33, 2390–2406.
- Fjell, A. M., & Walhovd, K. B. (2010). Structural brain changes in aging: Courses, causes and cognitive consequences. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 21, 187–221.
- Guye, S. (2018). Healthy cognition in old age: Effects of an engaged lifestyle and cognitive training. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Zurich, Switzerland: University of Zurich.
- Guye, S., & von Bastian, C. C. (2017). Working memory training in older adults: Bayesian evidence supporting the absence of transfer. *Psychology and Aging*, 32, 732–746.
- Guye, S., De Simoni, C., & von Bastian, C. C. (2017). Do individual differences predict change in cognitive training performance? A latent growth curve modeling approach. *Journal of Cognitive Enhancement*, 1, 374–393.
- Guye, S., Röcke, C., Martin, M., & von Bastian, C. C. (2019). Functional ability in everyday life: Are associations with an engaged lifestyle mediated by working memory? *The Journal* of Gerontology Series B: Psychological and Social Sciences. Advanced online publication. https://opac.nebis.ch/ediss/20183405.pdf.
- Hempel, A., Giesel, F. L., Garcia Caraballo, N. M., Amann, M., Meyer, H., Wüstenberg, T., ... & Schröder, J. (2004). Plasticity of cortical activation related to working memory during training. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 161, 745–747.
- Karbach, J., & Verhaeghen, P. (2014). Making working memory work: A meta-analysis of executive-control and working memory training in older adults. *Psychological Science*, 25, 2027–2037.
- Kelly, M. E., Loughrey, D., Lawlor, B. A., Robertson, I. H., Walsh, C., & Brennan, S. (2014). The impact of cognitive training and mental stimulation on cognitive and everyday functioning of healthy older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 15, 28–43.
- Könen, T., & Karbach, J. (2015). The benefits of looking at intraindividual dynamics in cognitive training data. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *6*, 615.
- Könen, T., Dirk, J., & Schmiedek, F. (2015). Cognitive benefits of last night's sleep: Daily variations in children's sleep behavior are related to working memory fluctuations. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 56*, 171–182.
- Lachman, M. E., Röcke, C., Rosnick, C., & Ryff, C. D. (2008). Realism and illusion in Americans' temporal views of their life satisfaction: Age differences in reconstructing the past and anticipating the future. *Psychological Science*, 19, 889–897.
- Lampit, A., Hallock, H., & Valenzuela, M. (2014). Computerized cognitive training in cognitively healthy older Adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis of effect modifiers. *PLoS Medicine*, 11, e1001756.
- Lawton, M. P., & Brody, E. M. (1969). Assessment of older people: Self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *The Gerontologist*, 9, 179–186.
- Lövdén, M., Schaefer, S., Noack, H., Bodammer, N. C., Kühn, S., Heinze, H. J., ... & Lindenberger, U. (2012). Spatial navigation training protects the hippocampus against age-related changes during early and late adulthood. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33, 620.e9.

- Lustig, C., Shah, P., Seidler, R., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. A. (2009). Aging, training, and the brain: A review and future directions. *Neuropsychology Review*, 19, 504–522.
- Martin, M., Clare, L., Altgassen, A. M., Cameron, M. H., & Zehnder, F. (2011). Cognition-based interventions for healthy older people and people with mild cognitive impairment. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 1, CD006220.
- Mazurek, A., Bhoopathy, R. M., Read, J. C., Gallagher, P., & Smulders, T. V. (2015). Effects of age on a real-world What-Where-When memory task. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 7, 74.
- Mehl, M. R., Pennebaker, J. W., Crow, D. M., Dabbs, J., & Price, J. H. (2001). The electronically activated recorder (EAR): A device for sampling naturalistic daily activities and conversations. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 33*, 517–523.
- Nahum-Shani, I., Smith, S. N., Spring, B. J., Collins, L. M., Witkiewitz, K., Tewari, A., & Murphy, S. A. (2018). Just-in-time adaptive interventions (JITAIs) in mobile health: Key components and design principles for ongoing health behavior support. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 52, 446–462.
- Noack, H., Lövdén, M., Schmiedek, F., & Lindenberger, U. (2009). Cognitive plasticity in adulthood and old age: Gauging the generality of cognitive intervention effects. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 27, 435–453.
- Nyberg, L., Sandblom, J., Jones, S., Stigsdotter Neely, A., Petersson, K. M., Ingvar, M., & Bäckman, L. (2003). Neural correlates of training-related memory improvement in adulthood and aging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100, 13728–13733.
- Oberauer, K., & Lewandowsky, S. (2019). Simple measurement models for complex workingmemory tasks. *Psychological Review*, 126, 880–932.
- Oschwald, J., Guye, S., Liem, F., Rast, P., Willis, S., Röcke, C., Jäncke, L., Martin, M., & Mérillat, S. (2019). Brain structure and cognitive ability in healthy aging: A review on longitudinal correlated change. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*. https://doi.org/10.1515/revneuro-2018-0096.
- Park, D. C., Lodi-Smith, J., Drew, L., Haber, S., Hebrank, A., Bischof, G. N., & Aamodt, W. (2014). The impact of sustained engagement on cognitive function in older adults: The synapse project. *Psychological Science*, 25, 103–112.
- Raz, N., & Rodrigue, K. M. (2006). Differential aging of the brain: Patterns, cognitive correlates and modifiers. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 30, 730–748.
- Raz, N., Schmiedek, F., Rodrigue, K. M., Kennedy, K. M., Lindenberger, U., & Lövdén, M. (2013). Differential brain shrinkage over 6 months shows limited association with cognitive practice. *Brain and Cognition*, 82, 171–180.
- Rebok, G. W., Ball, K., Guey, L. T., Jones, R. N., Kim, H. Y., King, J. W., ... & Willis, S. L. (2014). Ten-year effects of the advanced cognitive training for independent and vital elderly cognitive training trial on cognition and everyday functioning in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62, 16–24.
- Salthouse, T. A. (2006). Mental exercise and mental aging. Evaluating the validity of the "use it or lose it" hypothesis. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 1, 68–87.
- Salthouse, T. A. (2010). Selective review of cognitive aging. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 16, 754–760.
- Salthouse, T. A. (2011). Consequences of age-related cognitive declines. Annual Review of Psychology, 63, 1–26.
- Scheibe, S., & Carstensen, L. L. (2010). Emotional aging: Recent findings and future trends. *The Journals of Gerontology: Psychological Sciences*, 65B, 135–144.
- Shipstead, Z., Redick, T. S., & Engle, R. W. (2012). Is working memory training effective? *Psychological Bulletin*, 138, 628–654.
- Sliwinski, M. J., Smyth, J. M., Hofer, S. M., & Stawski, R. S. (2006). Intraindividual coupling of daily stress and cognition. *Psychology and Aging*, 21, 545–557.
- Stawski, R. S., Mogle, J., & Sliwinski, M. J. (2011). Intraindividual coupling of daily stressors and cognitive interference in old age. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 66, 121–129.
- Stine-Morrow, E. A. L., Parisi, J. M., Morrow, D. G., & Park, D. C. (2008). The effects of an engaged lifestyle on cognitive vitality: A field experiment. *Psychology and Aging*, 23, 778–786.

- Verhaeghen, P. (Ed.). (2014). The elements of cognitive aging: Meta- analyses of age-related differences in processing speed and their consequences. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Verhaeghen, P., & Marcoen, A. (1996). On the mechanisms of plasticity in young and older adults after instruction in the method of loci: Evidence for an amplification model. *Psychology and Aging*, 11, 164–178.
- Verhaeghen, P., Martin, M., & Sędek, G. (2012). Reconnecting cognition in the lab and cognition in real life: The role of compensatory social and motivational factors in explaining how cognition ages in the wild. *Neuropsychology, Development, and Cognition. Section B. Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition, 19*, 1–12.
- von Bastian, C. C., & Oberauer, K. (2014). Effects and mechanisms of working memory training: A review. *Psychological Research*, 78, 803–820.
- von Bastian, C. C., Guye, S., & De Simoni, C. (2019). How strong is the evidence for the effectiveness of working memory training? In M. F. Bunting, J. M. Novick, M. R. Dougherty, & R. W. Engle (Eds.), Cognitive and working memory training: Perspectives from psychology, neuroscience, and human development. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Willis, S. L., & Marsiske, M. (1993). Manual for the everyday problems test. University Park: Department of Human Development and family Studies, Pennsylvania State University.
- Willis, S. L., Tennstedt, S. L., Marsiske, M., Ball, K., Elias, J., Koepke, K. M., ... & Wright, E. (2006). Long-term effects of cognitive training on everyday functional outcomes in older adults. JAMA, 296, 2805–2814.